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Prologue


	or


	The Proximity to Montezuma


	



Before dawn, Holt left the woods where he and his passenger had been hiding in his vehicle. By the break of day, passed Heredia, and looking toward his left he noticed that the volcano Poas was already behind him. He knew he could not take the ferry across Puntarenas because of his passenger who lay behind the rear seat under a carefully packed old blanket. The waiting time at the ferry, and the sail across the water, would take over two hours. He knew instinctively that he may attract many curious looks, and the risk of being caught as a kidnapper was great. In order to get to Montezuma, he had to take a detour of about two hundred miles in a northwesterly direction to the Gulf of Nicoya. It was unavoidable, he had no other choice in the matter. Puerto Monero would be where he would have the first opportunity to get onto the Nicoya Peninsula. The map did not indicate that there was a ferry or a bridge. He had no other choice but to drive to Liberia, and from there in a southwest direction to Paquera. Some years ago he drove from San José to Playa Tamarindo taking an adventurous shortcut through a national park, but he could no longer remember the place where he had turned off the Pan-American Highway. After eight hours of driving, he pulled off the road near Santa Cruz to check on his kidnapped passenger.  The effect of the injection had worn off, so he was awake. His eyes were wide open in fear as he looked at his kidnapper. His mouth was taped shut, gasping out unintelligible sounds. Holt pulled off the tape and asked him if he had to relieve himself. His hostage only shook his head, and stammering, asked where he would take him. Holt’s only answer was a drug-filled syringe sending him into another drugged stupor. After it began to take effect, they continued on their journey.


	Finally, he came upon a turn off for a ferry with still two hours left to drive expecting he would arrive in Montezuma by daylight. He needed to get some rest, but he could not turn left, as it would bring him to the popular beach of Playa Tambor. The police controlled this area, and often got money from unsuspecting tourists. So, after driving a few more kilometers, he saw an inconspicuous branch off in the road, which ended with a primitive barrier. He got out of the car, pushed the barrier aside, drove the car a few meters further out of eyesight, and turned off the lights and the engine. Once his eyes had adjusted to the darkness he got out of the car and walked along a path. A starry night sky and the crescent moon gave him enough light to make his way in the darkness.


	After about a hundred steps, the path made a curve to the right and ended up on a beaten path of the mountainside. He made mental note of a sand excavating operation in progress and also noticed an abandoned yellow excavator in the middle of a sandy hollow. He realized that shortly after sunrise, the work would start again. He checked his watch and saw that he had over nine hours to get some rest before continuing on his journey. He walked back to the car and sat back in his seat to sleep.


	An hour before dawn he roused himself, and checked on his victim. The evening before, he had replaced new cable loops to the feet and arms of his victim, and made sure that they were not too tight. Then he pulled him out of the car and placed him on a bed spread on the ground. He did not give him another drug filled syringe. He removed the adhesive tape so he could give him a little water to drink. He was barely civil to his victim and really didn’t care if he’d wet himself or not. But because he already could smell the defining smell of death and sweat from the man, he didn’t want to add another foul smell which was beginning to become very noticeable in the car. So he let his victim relieve himself. He loaded him back in the car, and continued his journey.


	A few kilometers after Montezuma the two-lane road ended. The road continued on to the National Park of Cabo Blanco as a ONE WAY street closed to the general public.


	The road was only used by Park Rangers, and specific tourists who required a special permit to gain access. Holt had been on an expedition years ago, and knew that before reaching the dead-end there was a dirt road which was barely passable that led to the coast. It was so difficult to drive on, that a person would need a 4 wheel drive to navigate it. It was at least 10-15 kilometers long, and he knew it ended at a bay. The sun was at the zenith as he turned his SUV following a rough path in the field. The vegetation had already begun reconquering the territory since the last time the path had been cleared. Several times he had to get out of the vehicle to clear broken, larger branches and stones out of the way. Sometime he had to use the machete to cut stronger lianas . After two hours the road became wider, the trees and plants thinned out a little and revealed beautiful scenery. He looked down, and saw a bay with snow-white sand. He noticed that there was a couple occupying an area on the beach that were not aware of his presence as they were caught up their passion.  He wondered how they got there. As he looked a little further, his question was answered. Not far from them pulled onto the sand was a boat with an outboard motor. The two young people had not heard his vehicle approach, and not wanting to embarrass them, he quickly went back to the vehicle and backed it up about twenty feet into the forest. He gunned the motor a few times, and honked the horn. Under the blanket in the backseat, he heard the questioning and fearful noises of his victim.


	After a few minutes passed, he drove slowly out of the forest. As he came into the clearing, he could see the boat disappear behind the northern cliff. The beach was empty, except for a few empty bottles the couple had left behind in their haste to get to their boat. Looking toward the beach, he noticed the road opened slightly, and led to what looked like a small clearing.  If other people should come, his vehicle would not be too likely to be seen under the low-hanging lianas where he decided to park the vehicle. After he made sure that his victim was still alive, he went to the shore to collect  dry wood. He collected 3 armfuls and made sure the wood pile was big enough for his plan. He crumpled up some paper, and jammed it under the wood at the edge of the pile. He also placed a broken candle on the top of the wood pile. He prepared it that way, so he could easily set it on fire. After he had finished all the necessary preparations, he went back to the vehicle. When he opened the car door, his victim began to move restlessly. Holt grabbed his victim by his feet and pulled his legs out of the car so that only his upper body was still in the car. His legs buckled at the knees and lay with his feet on the ground. His victim heard the snapping of a knife and winced in terror. Under the duct tape gag came gurgling noises. Holt then blindfolded his victim with a strip of tape then proceeded to cut the shackles, and pulled the man from the vehicle. The man, paralyzed with fear, and unsure of his fate, stood in front of the car.


	Holt grabbed his victim by the arm, and pulled him towards the shore. Twice the bound man stumbled and fell, but Holt yanked his arm to lift him up on his feet. One meter in front of the woodpile he pushed the man roughly onto the sand. He bent down and tied his legs above the ankles with a cable clamp. Then he ripped the tape roughly off of his victim’s eyes and mouth. The man squinted at the bright sun, trying to orient himself. He had heard the breaking of the waves when he was still in the car, so he now visibly saw what his audible perception had been. When his head cleared more, the bound man found himself laying on a beach in front of a large stack of wood. When he looked up, leaning over him stood his mortal enemy who was looking at him intently.


	"Welcome to hell, you bastard!" his voice seething with hatred. The victim’s were eyes wide open as he stared at his tormentor.


	"What ... what ... are you going to do with me?!!"


	Holt did not answer him. The bound man watched as his tormentor walked to the edge of the forest, and disappeared behind the trees. After a few minutes he appeared again with a metal briefcase in his hand, and came back to the wood pile. Slowly, but always with an eye on the man laying on the sand, Holt put the briefcase down and flipped open the lock. After he opened it, he looked searched carefully through its’ contents. The man laying on the sand could not see the contents because of the position he was in. He raised his head, but Holt put his foot on his chest, and kicked him back to the ground.


	"Do not move your ass, or I’m going to make short work of you!" he snapped at him. He was flat on the ground, and from the corner of his eye he watched as Holt came towards him with a pair of scissors in his hand. All of a sudden he felt the cold steel touch the flesh above his ankle. With a few swift cuts the left leg of his jeans was completely separated up to his belt. The same happened to the right leg of his jeans, then his underpants, and finally his T-shirt. With one swift movement he pulled the belt out of the loops, ripped off the rest of his jeans, and the T-shirt from the pale body of his victim. He was completely naked, curved like an embryo in the womb, laying on the sand. He looked horrified as his tormentor lit the pile of wood! Once the wood pile was engulfed in flames, he saw Holt throw his clothes into the fire, and watched them disappear as they were engulfed in smoke and flames. Then Holt reached in the briefcase and pulled out a red envelope. Inside was a red passport which the victim recognized as his. Holt opened it in front of him and threw it violently into the fire.


	"I turn over this passport to the flames, because you do not need it anymore!" Holt yelled at him. He kept reaching into the briefcase, and got more papers out, and showed them to his victim one by one, before he threw them into the flames.


	The man laying on the ground watched helplessly as his Costa Rican residency card, German passport, medical card, and all his papers that identified him as Michael Schulz from Ulm, Germany burned in the fire. Silently Michael watched as the flames did their work. Out of the corner of his eye Holt watched his shocked and almost paralyzed victim watch his life disappear into the flames. Slowly Holt turned to his whimpering victim.


	"Now Schulz, listen very carefully,” he began, "I will tell you this only once. You think I want to kill you here and now? I do not want that! I'm not a pig like you. You wanted to kill Pauline and I. You stole my company, and threw my life into misery. I would have every legitimate reason to end your life, but I'm not a murderer like you."


	"Holt, what ... what do you want to do with me?” Schulz whispered hoarsely.


	Holt looked at the pile of misery with disgust on his face and said, “I will give you one last chance. What you make of it is your decision. It is within your power to stay alive, or die a miserable death. Do you remember when we lived together in Bello Horizonte? You told us the worst thing that could ever happen to you, and said that you would never want to experience it. Can you still can remember? I can, I have not forgotten.” Schulz pursed his lips together and refused to answer. 


	"You told us the worst thing you thought possible was to wake up in the morning without a penny, without any clothes, plagued by drug withdrawal, on the beach of Montezuma. So, I'll let your nightmare, and your worst fear, be realized. This is not the beach of Montezuma. It is located twenty kilometers behind us. I could not take you there, because there are too many tourists.  This is the only beach close by the beach in Cabo Blanco. And now comes the best part, a special treat, just for you!”


	Holt took a new pair of hospital gloves out of the briefcase, and pulled them slowly over his hands. Then he reached into the trunk and pulled out a surgeon’s mask, which he immediately put on. Then he straightened Schulz’s body, and piled some loose sand behind his victim’s back so he could sit upright. Schulz watched in horror as Holt reached into the briefcase and ripped open a box. From the torn box he took a glass ampoule which had a red band and a black skull etched into the glass. Holt broke off the tip of the glass vial, and slowly pulled the contents of it into a syringe.


	 








The Radical Change


	The sun had set and it had been dark for two hours. The volume of rush hour traffic had subsided. Only a few cars drove toward the west section of town where Holt lived. The road was eerily empty, as he drove into the underground garage of his house. Iris, his wife, who was in the kitchen, gave him only a brief look when she saw her husband loaded down with files. Holt noticed the indignation and annoyance on her face.


	"Why don’t you bring your whole office home with you?" she spat as she pointed with her sharp chin to the wardrobe which was loaded with stored files. Holt was reluctant to give an answer. However, he wanted to ease the tension, so he came over to her to kiss her cheek. She turned  her head abruptly and walked over to the other bedroom, which she frequented more as of late.


	“In the private sector there are no regular working hours like there are in the public sector," he remarked, referring to her work at the TU1. “If I want to be head of the legal department in the company, I have to work overtime until everything is done. It doesn’t make any difference whether I’m sitting alone in the office, or here at home doing something.”


	"Doing something!" she replied, saying the word something particularly strong. "You already have more than half of your junk at the house and why do you want to be head of the department, you’re already in charge”


	"No,” he replied, “since the head of the department was in an accident, I have been appointed temporarily to be in charge. Moeller told me that he did not wish to deal the decisions of the other shareholders. So, until the next shareholder’s meeting, I need to make sure there was nothing in the way.”


	“Well you are yourself in the way, because you are not able to get your work done in normal office hours,” she countered sarcastically.


	Holt was very aware of the unpleasant condition of his troubled marriage. She is stubborn, probably had a bad day and now I have to pay for it, he silently thought to himself.


	"You have forgotten - in addition to my responsibilities as a manager, I still have to do my original tasks. I have not been relieved, instead I am still finishing up all the rental and contract agreements!” he replied angrily as he took his files and went to the living room. Iris didn’t answer him, but went to the spare room, slammed the door clearly, showing her disapproval and anger.


	After dinner, which he had quickly prepared for himself, Holt sat at the dining room table and began to examine the new contracts he had previously read at the office. The draft of a contract with the Senate of Berlin was designed by Moeller. After the Berlin Promotion Act the company wanted to completely renovate a large apartment building at Bleibtreustraße. The plan was to convert it into a condominium and sell it for a substantial profit. In addition Moeller wanted to take a government subsidy for the maintenance and partial restoration of the building’s partly destroyed facade. It was necessary to inspect it as it was bombed during the second World War by the Soviet Artillery. Public subsidies from the city of Berlin had been granted since the 1950’s. After Holt reviewed the present funding guidelines, he saw the possibility of funding to be very possible.


	It was uncharacteristic for Holt to have the TV on in the background as he worked, but today it was an exception. Holt’s attention was drawn to the broadcast. He reached for the remote control on the table and turned up the volume. “Private trips abroad can be taken without proof of eligibility ... Travel family relationships ... be requested. The permits are issued shortly. Permanent departures ... can be made to the FRG2 at all border crossing points of the GDR3,” was what caught Holt’s attention.


	He had tuned in to the first program of the GDR television, the nightly press conference of the new East German Government. Günter Schabowski sat with two other employees at a long table at the Press Center in the building of the Central Committee of the SED4, the former building of the German Reichsbank. There were cameras rolling and a confusing mass of microphones present.


	RIAS - TV5 and the Berlin Evening News had been reporting on the growing disturbances for weeks now. Since the GDR National Holiday October 7th much had transpired. Holt had not been prepared for speed of it all - although he’d always hoped to see it go quickly. Gorbachev was inflexible and unchanging so Honecker literally kicked his butt in front of the camera when he said, “Those who are late will be punished by life!”


	Holt was quite indignant and thought to himself, Now I should be over there! The garrulous people from the New Forum at the Round table No.13 are not sending the right message! They still believe that socialism has a human face. There were many reports about the growing civil rights movement in East Berlin and Leipzig, which were of concern.


	 


	*


	 


	On October 18th, 1989, Honecker and a few old hard-liners from the Politburo of the Central Committee of the SED resigned. Younger, more modern thinking officials had the power and took over. In Leipzig they shot into a crowd of over a hundred thousand participants at a demonstration.


	Thankfully, the courageous intervention of Kurt Masur, the conductor of the Gewandhaus Orchestra, along with a local SED leader had prevented a massacre at the Honecker Chinese Summit. As the result of some reports from the GDR, old fighters from the ranks of the combat group had been ready to shoot at the counter revolutionaries which is what they called the demonstrators. The internal ranks of the police along with the People's Army stepped in to make sure those commands were not realized. The Stasi6 kept silent about all this. What was true? Or was it just wishful thinking?


	Holt focused his mind back on the press conference. Schabowski answered the journalist’s questions spontaneously without looking at any notes. It was amazing to see an East German dignitary speaking freely. Holt noticed as he paid closer attention, that Schabowski became a little ill-at-ease as the press conference continued on. When he was asked by a journalist when the new travel law would be in effect, he didn’t seem to have an answer. Holt could see how embarrassed he was as he rifled through his paperwork. “As far as I know … it will be implemented immediately without delay,” he said. Holt made himself a mental note to get a copy of the New Germany newspaper. He was sure that the proposed legislature would be printed there.


	He knew how the new East German legislation functioned. First came a loosely drafted law. Then it would be scrutinized further and dissected. Finally, it was changed so it would not benefit the citizens of the GDR. The East German motto was, first calm the people and then get down to it. Holt turned to another channel where broadcast excerpts from the press conference, he had just watched, were replaying. After he had revised the remaining contracts from work, he retired for the evening watching an exciting movie on TV.


	 


	*


	 


	A service officer Werner Bachmann, Lieutenant Colonel of the border troops of the GDR and a member of the PKE (State Security Division) VI, had followed the same press conference that Holt had. He was agitated at the proposed travel law he had just heard about. He looked out his window into the darkness in the direction of Schönhauser Allee. There was virtually no traffic at the Bornholmer Straße. He saw only a few cars turning back from the border area to drive back towards East Berlin. Like the beacon of a light house, the headlights of the cars illuminated the closed steel gutters of the border crossing. Looking to the West, Bachmann saw the brightly lit street lights of the section Wedding. It was 7:15 PM, on an evening like many other miserable evenings at the state border of the GDR.


	 


	*


	 


	Holt overslept the start of a history changing event. Iris, who always was up before Holt, abruptly shook his shoulder and shouted at him something that he thought was incomprehensible.


	“Your people have overrun West Berlin!”


	What?! Who overran West Berlin!!?? These fragmented words buzzed through his groggy sleep filled brain. A similar situation swiftly came into to his mind. In the morning hours of August 21st, 1968, while in Prague, his Czech friends shook him awake with similar words. Michael, it's war! German and Soviet troops have invaded the country! Thankfully, as it turned out later, the NVA7 was not involved in the invasion. He found Iris glued to the television watching a specially designated broadcast. Holt watched over her shoulder as a huge crowd thronged what appeared to be a pushed up turnpike. Other people hung like grapes on a barrier covering what looked like the Berlin Wall. They danced on the wall and waved black/red/gold flags. He saw some people with heavy objects strike the concrete to break off pieces of stone. Another picture showed a line of Trabbis8’ following Trabbis’ winding their way through groups of people who crazily pushed their way up onto the plastic roofs. It appeared to Holt like the people gone crazy. Was he watching a fiction movie about the collapse of the GDR border regime, or was it reality?


	It seemed so surreal! Again, the barrier appeared in the picture. A news bulletin appeared on the TV screen describing the place where all this was happening - the Bornholmer Straße border crossing. Slowly it became clear to Holt. It was real! The most unbelievable thing happened and he was not there!


	As Holt drove to his job, he first noticed a light and then a noxious smell from exhaust fumes of two-stroke engines. The normally clear morning air was becoming more blue as he headed towards the city center. Then he saw the first Trabbis. The Kurfürstendamm was jammed as thousands of people rushed back and forth intoxicated with joy. Long lines of people were standing at the front of banks that seemed to be open for business at this hour. The old world of East Berlin seemed to be falling apart. It had no structure and what once was, seemed to be fading into history at an accelerated rate. It was the morning of November 10th, 1989, in what appeared to be still a divided Berlin.


	 


	In the office there was an unusual excitement. It wasn’t because there would finally be changes in Germany, but some employees could not park close to the office because of the many Trabbis that were parked in their normal parking stalls. Holt saw that Moeller had closed his office door and was on the phone with his business partners in Düsseldorf. The news about what had happened that morning in Berlin was most certainly in his phone discussion.


	Holt didn’t have an opportunity to present the revised contracts to Moeller. So, he decided to give the documents to his secretary and he told her that he wanted to see the remodeling project one more time. He needed the high-quality camera the company owned, which she willingly handed to Holt.


	Because of the chaos in the streets of downtown Berlin, Holt decided not to use his car. A parking lot was certainly not easy to find and his destination was not the construction project. He wanted to go to the Friedrichstraße. The S-Train station Friedrichstraße, the largest border crossing to East Berlin was used by West Berliners to travel with the S-Train or U-Train without passport control by the East German border guards. Holt decided to ride from a nearby station directly to the Friedrichstraße. He wanted to see with his own eyes what he missed last evening. He wanted to see how the people from East Berlin could easily cross the border now. As Holt walked into the lobby of the S-Train station, he had to stay closely pressed to the wall to avoid being knocked over, because so many people wanted to leave the S-Train station. He saw the happiest people anxiously wanting to get to the City of West Berlin. It was not possible to buy a ticket, but he realized that it was no longer necessary. The Senate had ordered liberty tokens. It was the most unique event in the history of West Berlin.


	The platform was full of people. Complete strangers put their arms around each other and hugged them with joy. Many people had tears in their eyes and shouted the words insane, it is insane! To Holt, the experience seemed unreal, as if in a surreal dream. The joy of the people was infectious and even he became filled with exuberant joy! In high spirits he got on an overcrowded commuter train. It seemed as if he had cotton balls in his ears when he heard the welcome words by the speakers on the platform.


	“We welcome all visitors, our sisters and brothers from the eastern part of our city and from the GDR. On behalf of the Senate of Berlin we wish you a pleasant stay. If you have any questions or concerns, please contact our staff. The German Red Cross volunteers, other charities and our police are waiting to help you.”


	Holt thought he was still dreaming when the S-Train arrived at the Friedrichstraße station. From the entrance to the Tränenpalast, toward the West platform, the people were being pressed out like grapes in a wine press. Pushed to the walls, the officers of the border troops were no longer able to manage everything. The incoming people were holding their unfolded GDR passes over their heads. For all anyone knew, it could have been member statements of the allotment garden associations or stamp collections.


	He took many pictures, and stood still for a while thinking about this historic moment. He then boarded the underground line of the S-Train in the direction of the South. He disembarked the train just beyond the border and after passing three abandoned ghost train stations he got out again. He walked for a while and reached the southern part of the Friedrichstraße in West Berlin. The border crossing Check Point Charlie9, was now relatively quiet. There were only a few cars driving towards the eastern checkpoint.


	When Holt arrived back at the office late that afternoon, he found a note on his desk informing him that Moeller wished to speak to him when he got in. Moeller was still sitting in his office with leftover pizza on his desk indicating he’d not left the office since. Without offering any words of welcome, he started barking questions at Holt.


	“Holt, what’s going on out there? Are the Easterners all going crazy!?”


	“No boss, they are taking advantage of the unique opportunity to come back in to the West. Many are afraid that tomorrow it could all be over. They do not trust the authorities and they are taking full advantage of the opportunity that has been presented in this hour,” Holt said.


	"Bullshit!” he said, “the people only want to get the money that is offered to them.”


	“Can you blame them for that? Holt asked. “Now they can finally buy bananas and other things, which are totally normal for us.”


	“ Yes, bananas, they also behave like monkeys. I wanted to make a quick trip to the bank, but there was no way through. I have never had to wait in such a long line before. Those people are accustomed to wait in a long line.” He was as arrogant as a Hanseatic Pfeffersack, and as sensitive as a mallet. The way he behaves here in the office is the way he would treat the Easterners, if he could, thought Holt.


	Moeller had noticed the change in Holt's face. He was aware of Holt's Eastern background. In spite of his arrogance he could read the facial expressions of people, and quickly make an assessment of the person he was speaking to. He changed the subject when he saw his remarks had affected Holt. As a West German he had no understanding of the things that were sensitive subjects to East Germans. He only knew the East Germans as uniformed border guards, custom officers and police officers. He had some bad experiences with them and didn’t think too kindly of them.


	“Give me your thoughts about the situation now, will it have a negative impact with what we are involved in?” Moeller demanded to know.


	“No, I do not think so.” Holt said. “Certainly, the situation in the GDR will improve a bit and possibly it will become more liberal and open. I don’t foresee dramatic changes implemented immediately.”


	“What makes you say that?” he asked.


	Holt continued on, “The Communists still have the final say for now. They will not throw their whole system over board immediately. I imagine, that under certain circumstances, it is very possible that they will allow the owners of run down houses in East Berlin to obtain a loan from the West. Even the City Council cannot save its’ old apartment buildings without a loan worth millions of D-Mark10. It could happen in the way of joint ventures. Definitely, West German money will be involved.” Moeller immediately recognized something very important.


	“Can we participate, and if so, what's in it for us if we join them?” he asked.


	“It depends how everything goes. It’s not for today, but, definitely you will see it in the future.” Holt answered. “The GDR is broke. Whether they like it or not, they have to change their entire economy to western standards.”


	“The Communists will not do that,” Moeller responded.


	“You are right,” Holt said, “with the current administration still in position, it won’t happen. But everything is changing with new policies being put in place. The Communists are losing ground. Their successors will certainly not throw themselves on the chest of the capitalists, but as you know, money talks.”


	Moeller grinned, thought a little while and then commented: “Holt, you know them very well over there, I mean the political structures and how things work. Can you draw up a proposal to present to the shareholders? I will give you a few days. Wait, it would be even better if you give a verbal presentation to the shareholders. After you’ve made the presentation, I will make an announcement. Beginning immediately, you are the Legal Department’s new head man.”


	Holt was shocked at what he heard! What a scoundrel! Now he has tasted blood and does not want to jeopardize anything that might get him a considerable amount of money from the East. At the same time he baited me. With the Berlin Promotion Act you cannot do anything at this time in the East, Holt thought.


	“A transfer by the Berlin Promotion Act will probably not be possible,” Holt said, “but the Federal Government will respond quickly and you will see new funding opportunities for the East. I predict in a year’s time everything will look completely different.”


	“Then you’d better start to think about your presentation,” Moeller interrupted him, “I want you to present it the day after tomorrow. We’ll start the meeting at nine o’clock and wrap it up by noon. I want you to convince my colleagues in Düsseldorf, as you have convinced me, that this is exactly where we should dig for gold!”


	 


	*


	 


	Two days later Moeller’s two partners arrived on the first morning flight from Düsseldorf. Holt recognized them from previous meetings he’d been in. He didn’t like either one of them. In his opinion, they were just two stupid nouveau rich from the Ruhr area. He tried to hide his disdain when he met them in the conference room. After a few introductory remarks about the current happenings in Germany, he began his presentation.


	“I don’t want the focus of this meeting to be about the Communist ideology, but I want to focus my remarks on the details that could be important for the business ventures of our company group,” he said.


	Holt made sure he emphasized his point about the company group. He noticed that he had a captive audience who were eagerly waiting for information that could lead them to make decisions that would prove very profitable in the future. With a few words, he explained the constitutional structure of the GDR and told them who held the real power. He told his listeners that there is a counterpart in the party for each State Department who controlled all the decisions, and who took the liberty to change them if they deemed it necessary, they started to listen even more with concentrated. The younger of the two shareholders, the spokesperson for the others, raised his hand to interrupt him with a question.


	“Are you saying that the Ministry of Construction, or whatever it is referred to in the East, is controlled by the Commission? Shouldn’t we contact the party immediately then?”


	Holt answered calmly, “No, it’s not that simple. The Ministry or Department of Civil Engineering for the Districts are responsible for decisions made in the construction industry. When a person has a request they submit it to the State. Please understand, contact with Party personnel should not be underestimated. You see, in order to avoid making quick decisions in cases where things are a little uncertain, the two departments each make excuses to gain time, or to ultimately refuse to make a decision all together. In the end, important decisions are made together, but, the Party has the last word on any matter.”


	“Aha!” exclaimed the young spokesperson. “So, concerning the present situation, can we bypass the personnel in the party?”


	“I would not advise that,” Holt responded. “The party is already weakened and is currently trying to survive. You must understand that they are very focused on making important decisions. Take a look at the discussions and negotiations at the Round Table for instance. Negotiators on the side of the State are still the Party. There is a special unit in the GDR which has been added in to the respective Control Institution. It is an important branch, and is every bit part of the Government structure. It remains politically active with 150 comrades on its payroll.”


	“What is it?” asked the younger man.


	Holt paused for moment before continuing, “It’s the State Planning Commission. It is just as divided as the rest of State Building Departments. Upper, middle, and lower levels to be precise. It begins at the Central Planning Commission of the GDR. Then it goes down to the Planning Commission, and even reaches to the smallest District Offices. In my business dealings, I would contact the Local Planning Commission first.”


	“Okay Holt, interrupted Moeller, “then you go to the Planning Commission in East Berlin as the representative for our company. We want you to ask them to do business with us.”


	“Sorry, but I must decline,” Holt said. “I am referred to as an unwanted person in the GDR since 1977. I’m not allowed to enter the country. Every year I fill out an Entry Application at the Visitor’s Bureau. Without fail, every year it has been rejected.”


	“Have you filled out and presented your application for this year yet?” asked the older of the two men. Holt responded that he had not submitted his application yet. “Then do it now. Perhaps in view of the changes they may accept your application. If your application is accepted, you can contact the head of the ominous Planning Commission and give him our warmest regards.”


	The three laughed at the warmest regards remark. Holt was suddenly aware that this was not just a loosely constructed proposal. It was a well thought out plan between the three men. One of the questions they asked him was, whom would you contact if you have questions about the financing of redevelopment projects in East Berlin?


	Holt took a moment and thought about the organization regime of East Berlin. He told them that he would contact the head of the State Planning Commission through the City Council of Great Berlin.


	Moeller quickly instructed him, “Please do it immediately then after your application is accepted. We’ll let you know what we want you to do when we have solidified our plans.” They concluded the meeting leaving Holt wondering what his future held.


	 


	Holt had a great deal of work to do and consequently it didn’t afford him the time to keep abreast of the changes that were happening in the country. They seemed to be taking place on a daily basis. A few days after the meeting, he submitted his yearly application to the Visitors Bureau. The employees working in the office were all courteous and exceptionally friendly. They wore uniforms of the German Post office of the GDR, but not the standard uniforms of the Ministry of the State Security. Most of the people who came to this office knew or suspected who these postal workers really were.


	 


	Holt received a letter from the East Berlin Bureau of the East German People's Police only ten days after he’d submitted his application. For the first time in fourteen years he received a letter of confirmation granting him a multiple-entry permission to East Berlin. At the same time, he received legal documents from the shareholders in Düsseldorf giving him Power of Attorney to represent them.


	Moeller offered Holt the use of his Daimler for the visit to East Berlin. He suspected it was to make a good impression on the people he would meet. The entry permit was approved for his car only, and the registration number was clearly on the approved paperwork, so he refused the offer in good conscience.


	Holt waited at the border, while the Guard accepted his identity card and paperwork to enter East Berlin. He stamped the multiple entry permission letter and that’s all there was to it. Holt knew it was merely a formality at this point. He looked over to the other side of the border crossing and saw a long line of cars with the brand names of Trabant and Wartburg. Their passengers were waiting to cross the border into West Berlin. He noticed the vast crowd of people piling into the pedestrian entry crossing. So much so, that most of them were pressing themselves through the barriers in their excitement to cross over into West Berlin. Once he crossed over, after driving about a hundred meters, he passed the Natural History Museum.


	Around fifteen years ago, on several occasions, he’d visited the Museum with his children. He still remembered their amazement when they saw the eighteen meter tall Dinosaur skeleton in the entry of the Museum. For him, it seemed like just yesterday. How quickly the time had passed! Holt fondly remembered the time his daughter Kati had timidly touched one of the foot bones of the dinosaur, and asked him if this Sauriecher also ate people. Holt laughed and answered that they were not Sauriecher but Dinosaurs. He told her when Dinosaurs lived on the earth, no humans had existed. All those memories and thoughts of his children made his heart ache as he had not seen them for many years. He missed them desperately!


	His thoughts then turned to when he was a student. He had not lived far from here. He had lived in the first house that was in front of the Students Club at Humboldt University. All students had occupied the entire back part of this four-story house. Sometimes, at night, he went to the Bärenschänke. It was a very popular pub for the East Berliners and at first glance it seemed like it was still open. Holt looked more closely at the building and quickly realized that it was a predominant gray color, and decay had set into the structure. He was very disturbed at what he saw. Many buildings were deserted and left to decay back into the ground. Streets were quiet and deserted.


	Next, the railing of a bridge that crossed the Spree River caught his attention. He noticed the Prussian eagle emblazoned on it and saw the wings of this magnificent bird were rusty and unsightly. He recalled, that in 1978 Wolf Biermann11 had sung about this eagle in a ballad called The Prussian Icarus.


	For the first time since he was at the border crossing at the Friedrichstraße S-Train Station, a large number of passengers continued making their way over the border. They rushed to the entrance of the Tränenpalast12 to get to West Berlin. Then he turned left towards Alexanderplatz. Looking to the right, one could see the closed Brandenburger Tor. Unter den Linden the volume of vehicle traffic had increased. After passing the State Library he continued to walk until he came to an equestrian statue named Old Fritz. After the SED moved Old Fritz from the Schloss Sanssouci to the Park Boulevard, the Berliners composed a saying which goes like this; Dear Fritz come back from Heaven and rule your Prussia again!


	The entrance to the Humboldt University seemed to be closed. There were no students in sight. He looked to the right wing of the huge building and to the large windows of the lecture room in which he often sat on the last desk. From the rear window he would watch the Guard at the Memorial, the former Neue Wache.


	Through the closed window he would hear the steps of the soldiers on the pavement intertwined with the sharp commands of their Sergeant. Every half hour there was a changing of the guards. Crowds of tourists clicked their cameras in front of the Neue Wache. Each Wednesday at ten a.m. there was the big change of the guards in Prussia. He imagined it to be like a phoenix rising from the ashes. An old Prussian military tradition was initiated with the deployment of the Guard Battalion. Music corps were incorporated into the deployment which made it a spectacular moment! Today, occupying each of the two small pedestals in front of the memorial, are two lone soldiers standing on guard with their rifles. In his mind, they looked like two toy soldiers.


	As his mind drifted back through the years that had passed, Holt was reminded of another story. It brought a smile to his face when he thought about the ridiculous event that had happened. The Academic year in 1969 for the Law Department was ending. Students were responsible for collecting money for the Viet Cong as the Viet Nam war was raging on. Holt was sitting in the last row of the classroom next to Andi, his best friend from University. He watched him out of the corner of his eye as Andi was searching for something in his trouser pockets. He didn’t find what we wanted and clearly frustrated, cursed under his breath.


	“Shit, I need the money for a steamed sausage!”


	“What’s the matter?” Holt asked his friend.


	“I have only 79 Pfennig left and I need 65 Pfennig later for the sausage at the cafeteria for my dinner.”


	“Then give them what is left you Dödel”, Holt said teasingly.


	“Okay, I will! That’s fourteen pennies and a trouser button,” he laughed, showing Holt the change. In the handful of the coins was a button that still had strands of thread on it. After Holt had given his contribution to the students who were collecting it, Andi threw the coins and the button into the collection box.


	There were three officials of the Party in the stands, while the FDJ13 Committee added up the money that had been collected. All of a sudden everything came to a grinding halt! Brown, the Party Secretary held something in his hand and showed the collectors what he had retrieved. Sheer horror reflected on the faces of the officials! Brown walked to the microphone, thumped on it to make sure it was live and began to give a speech.


	“Today the collection for the Vietnamese brothers fighting for freedom by American Imperialism has totaled 313 Marks and 35 Pfennig. He took a deep breath… “and a button of someone’s trouser!” Laughter erupted from the students in the front row. Brown’s face turned deep red looking more ferocious than ever!


	“This is nothing to laugh about, this is an outrage! The word disrespectful doesn’t even cover it!” The students bowed their heads, ashamed of their reaction. Brown glowered at the crowd who were stunned by the harsh tone of his words.


	“Whoever has committed this crime should be reported immediately! They should be ashamed of themselves! While our sister nation is in a struggle with the world enemy of the working class people, some disrespectful, ideological person among us is making fun by donating a lousy trouser button! Clearly he does not understand international solidarity. I do not see the humor comrades, it is repulsive!”


	Suddenly the color drained out of Andis face. With trembling hands he fumbled at his baggy trousers. Only a few threads were hanging in place where the button had been, clear evidence that he was the perpetrator of the ghastly deed!


	“If they check people’s clothes when we leave, I’m screwed! They’ll search me and you too, because we are friends and you sat beside me doing nothing. What a shit!”


	It was clear to Holt, that Andi had no interest in these collections. He was a pacifist at heart and he knew that weapons were bought for the Vietcong with the money from the GDR. Holt was against it because the money supported the wrong side. Sadly, he could not tell anyone, not even his friend Andi. Thank God they were not detained when they left. Brown must have realized what a fool he made of himself by yelling and carrying on over such an innocent prank.


	Continuing his journey, Holt passed the Arsenal and the Berliner Dom. He passed by the Palace of the Republic, also known by the Berliners as Eric’s Lamp Shop because of the many lamps displayed there. He always connected this building to a man named Joern Marxmann. In 1973 this man was his inmate at the prison in Cottbus. During his service as a Border Guard at the Bay of Kiel, Marxmann tried to escape to the West in a rubber dinghy crossing the Baltic Sea. The Stasi had allowed Marxmann to attend his father’s funeral which was a rare occurrence. His father was a well-known SED man from East Berlin. After the funeral, before taking him back to prison, they took Marxmann aside to show him a building which was still under construction. They offered him a deal. They said that he could work as a skilled concrete worker on the building during its construction. In exchange for that privilege, he must obtain important information about his comrades in prison. Marxmann did as he was asked and retrieved the information about his comrades. Holt caught him in the middle of his treacherous dealings.


	Holt found a parking place under the arches of the S-Train. This was an area he knew well, even after so many years. Time seemed to have stood still in this part of Germany. He began to walk toward the administration building of the Municipal Council of Greater Berlin at the Alexanderplatz.


	Opposite the fountain and the world clock was the Berolinahaus. He could smell floor wax and the familiar cleaning solution Lysol as he passed the deserted entrance guard. He searched the building for the office of the State Planning Commission. He was sure they were in this building. Finally, after a few inquiries, he found the offices on the third floor. Holt had not make an appointment with the secretary because he didn’t want to be turned away. He made plans to go directly to the Head of the Planning Commission. After a brisk knock on the door he entered the office without waiting for an invitation to come in. An elderly man was sitting behind his desk reading the newspaper Das Neue Deutschland.14 He was so startled when Holt entered the office, that the newspaper fell out of his hands to the floor.


	The man glanced at the door with fear in his eyes as if he expected more people. He understood the man’s reaction. He had read about strong civil rights activists, along with the Police and prosecutors, blatantly arresting officials as they were sitting at their desks.


	Holt used a stern voice and asked; “Are you comrade Roth?”


	“I ... um ... I’m Roth,” the old man stammered. It looked like he would faint with fear. Holt thought that it would only be fair to ease Roth’s fears. He calmly sat down in the visitor’s chair across from him, and crossed his legs.


	“Mr. Roth, calm down, you have nothing to worry about, at least not from me. I have come from West Berlin to ask you a few questions.” Mr. Roth’s facial expression began to relax a little. Color came back into his face. He took a handkerchief out of his trouser pocket and with trembling hands wiped the sweat off his forehead. When he became more calm, he asked Holt.


	“You’ve come from West Berlin? What do you want to ask me?”


	“I need information about the distribution of property for the company I legally represent. The site plans are located in Berlin-Mitte”


	“Are you a lawyer?” Roth asked.


	“Something like that. I'm the head of the Legal Department within a large architectural firm.”


	Roth looked relieved, “So, what do you expect from me? I don’t have any information. I 'm just sitting here because I get my money from the magistrate. If I don’t show up to work, they will fire me and then what am I suppose to do?”


	Holt took a closer look at the old man. It appeared that he had been through a lot in his time. His faded blue Present 20 suit15 had a dark mark on the left lapel. Holt could see the Party badge had been removed. He pointed to the mark and said sarcastically. “You should put something over the mark on your lapel. Maybe a Berliner Bear would be appropriate.”


	“Yes” Roth answered, “it was really wise to take the peacock emblem off the jacket. But they, nodding his head toward the outside window, they know who I am. I expect they will pay me a visit eventually. I haven’t done anything wrong. I didn’t rat anybody out and no one had to go to jail because of me.”


	Holt seriously doubted his statements. He knew that hundreds of thousands informants had worked for the Stasi. Some of them were under pressure, but most of them wanted a career in the GDR. It didn’t matter to those unscrupulous pigs how many people’s lives were destroyed. The thought of engaging with such people was disgusting for Holt. But, being a clear and logical thinker, his investigating skills would get him what he wanted. No matter how many skeletons Roth had in the closet, Holt’s only objective was to get information from him.


	“Roth, I’m not setting a trap for you. Here is my Power of Attorney from the company I work for. It’s important for me to see the Title Deeds at the Land Registry Office. We need to know whose name the land is registered in, in other words who owns it and how many mortgages, if any, are registered in Division 3.


	“I don’t have the confidential information here. It isn’t in my area of authority. If I needed information, which was not often, than I requested them from the Central Land Registry Office in the land Registry Department with the comrade ...” he corrected himself quickly “... with Mr. Schmierling,” said Roth.


	“I don’t want to go to every department in East Berlin,” Holt said. “Could you arrange to issue the certificates?”


	“Schmierling knows, that I don’t have the authority, so I would have no need for this kind of information,” Roth countered back. As Holt rubbed the thumb and forefinger of his left hand together, he remarked quietly, “I think I can do something about that.” Roth understood instantly what Holt meant. An opportunity to make some money for himself, which he liked, because his finances were currently not looking good. “Schmierling will not give the information to you for free. How much will your company be willing to pay for valuable information?” he asked.


	“Even in West Berlin, a good sum of money is paid to get information from the Land Registry Office. I imagine that my company is willing to pay a hundred German mark for each piece of basic information and for more confidential ones, I would think up to a thousand German mark,” Holt told him. Roth's eyes literally lit up. He leaned over the desk, pushed the Power of Attorney paperwork back to Holt and in a whisper he replied.


	“I’ll talk to Schmierling and you will get what you came for. He is in a similar situation as me. By next month he could be on the street, or worse, in jail. We need to move quickly but I want a deposit of one thousand German mark.”


	Holt replied, “Okay, I’ll give you a thousand German mark today and you sign the receipt. Whatever is left you will get next week depending on the the amount of paperwork and the value of it.”


	“Are you crazy! With a receipt? I may as well go straight to the prosecutor,” Roth sneered. “If you want to do business, then we’ll do business without a paper trail. You know perfectly well that I will not tell them about this.”


	“Yes, I know that, and I don’t expect anything less,” he replied. Holt was concerned about the risk he was taking giving Roth the 1000 German mark with no receipt. A 1000 German mark was very little money compared to the large profit his company would make with the information Roth would give them. Holt made a mental note to let him know that there were many lucrative opportunities ahead for him.


	“Okay I agree. I will make this deal without a receipt,” responded Holt. “You make sure that we get quality information ~ no rubbish ... and ... if you do your job well, you’ll have more business sent your way while you’re still sitting at this desk. Life has to go on for you and professionals are always welcome in our company.” But, certainly not for a corrupt bastard like you, Holt thought.


	Business dealings with Roth proved very successful. Roth had kept his word, and a week later, they arranged to meet in an old, well known restaurant called the Letzte Instanz (Last Instant) near the Supreme Court of the GDR.


	As Holt waited for Roth, he thought of the absurdity of the events. Only a few months ago the release of documents to the capitalist class enemy would have been classified as espionage and treason. It would have been a case for the Supreme Court.


	Roth arrived a few minutes late. When he saw Holt sitting in the back corner, he was visibly relieved. After he took off of his coat, he placed a bulging briefcase on the table. Still very nervous, he glanced over his shoulder to see if he had drawn attention to himself.


	“That wasn’t as easy as I had thought. Schmierling wanted more money,” he told Holt. “He complained, so I told him that he can make a lot more money in the future.”


	“How much did you give Schmierling?” Holt wanted to know.


	“Half of course,” Roth said without blushing. Holt suspected that he had lied to him. He glanced over the documents that Roth had placed in front of him on the table. The location of the properties was very interesting. He saw that they were the very best locations. Roth saw that Holt was pleased and boasted about Schmierling’s efforts.


	“Schmierling only looked for the properties which were previously owned by foreign investors, and people who lived in West Germany. Otherwise there would be too many to go through.


	“How many are there?” Holt asked. He wanted to know so that he could calculate the fee.


	“There are exactly eighty-five complete documents. You owe me 85,000 German mark!” His voice was strong and demanding as he looked at Holt.


	“ Calm down Roth,” Hold said. “I told you last week, I wanted valuable documents and no trash! You’ll get 100 German marks for each valuable document. For extremely valuable documents you will get for each 1000 German marks. Today I’ll give you a flat rate of 100 German mark for each document, which adds up to exactly 8,500 German marks.” Holt only had 10,000 cash on him.


	“ Absolutely not! That is far too little!” Roth snapped reaching for the documents. Holt grabbed Roth's arm and pinned it to the table. He knew that Roth had no other choice. He had to take his offer.


	“Roth, we are not buying a pig in a poke. Take the money now and get me more documents next week. We will examine these documents first to estimate their value. We will sort through the documents, discard the ones that we don’t need and determine which ones are worth 1000 German mark. After we have made the calculations and we see that thy worth more than the 8,500 German marks we’ve given you, then we’ll pay you the difference. However, we will expect all additional information and new documents to be worth a great deal. I expect that you will get the documents to us in an expeditious manner. Understood?”


	Roth had expected this conversation, and seemed to be relieved.


	“Yes, I understand,” he said. “I will continue to do business with you, but it must be kept confidential.” Holt knew he had him right where he wanted him.


	“Well, that sounds a lot better already,” he said, “now, let’s have a bite to eat. We’ll meet again next week, let’s say on Thursday, same time, same place.”


	Roth suddenly seemed to be in a hurry declining Holt’s offer. He wanted to leave quickly so he could stash the money. He didn’t even drink the beer that a waiter had put on the table for him. Holt had dinner by himself and as he ate, he thought about all the information he had in his possession. It represented considerable value in the Real Estate Market. Not too bad for a day’s work, he thought. After dinner, he made his way to the border crossing towards West Berlin.


	 


	When the Land Registry documents were evaluated by the company, the sound of happiness was like an earthquake rumbling through the building. It was like the greedy emotion could have registered 6.5 on the Richter scale. Moeller was euphoric! Holt had never witnessed that kind of emotion in his boss before. Moeller thumbed through the documents, looked at the locations and rushed to the meeting room where the map of Berlin hung. Whenever he had found the location on the map, he literally went insane!


	“Man, oh man! I'm going crazy!” he yelled. “Right at the intersection from Unter den Linden to Friedrichstraße, here ... one, that's on the Alexanderplatz ... and here, best location, Leipziger Straße ... man oh man! If we could get all this, I will be a filthy rich man!”


	At home that evening in his Wannsee Villa, Moeller simply could not get any rest. He had brought the documents home with him. After his children were in bed and his wife was on a long phone conversation with her best friend, he took them out and thoroughly studied them again. Three parcels of land were of particular interest to him because of their location and who had ownership of them. The documents revealed that one owner of two properties lived in West Berlin, and the other owner lived in Bremen. With a calculator in hand, he calculated the lowest possible purchase price, Then he calculated the highest possible resale price. He added in the revenue they would receive after it was remodeled. When he’d made sure his calculations were correct, he saw that the company would make a profit of more than eight hundred percent!


	Thoughts about Holt’s clear lack of initiative in this business venture greatly concerned Moeller.  He knew he had to motivate him, and what better way than with a hefty commission. So, it was settled! He decided to lure Holt with a substantial amount of money. Every man has his price, he thought.


	He needed to use the phone, but he realized his wife was on a call with her friend. Ten minutes later he tried again, but found she was still on the line.  Reluctantly, he went over to the big sitting room where his wife was relaxing in a big overstuffed armchair. She had a glass of champagne in one hand and the phone in her other hand next to her ear. Her legs were propped up on the arm of the chair. She had made herself very comfortable knowing she would be on the phone for a long time. Moeller caught her attention with an abrupt movement of his head indicating that he wanted her attention. She looked at him questioningly.


	“Would you please finish your call? I need to place an urgent call to Düsseldorf,” he said.


	“Can’t this wait until morning?” she asked impatiently.


	“No my dear, it is urgent that I make the call immediately. It pertains to a lucrative business deal. So hang up the phone … please!”


	She quickly hung up the phone watching with great interest as her husband walked back to his private office to make his call to Düsseldorf. He dialed the number and after two rings Moeller said, “I have to talk to your father!” His voice was impatient and rude. He waited for a moment, and when he heard the voice of his friend he began his conversation.


	“August, I apologize for calling you so late, but it is very important. Holt went to the East and he found out a lot. You won’t believe it, but we can have a return on capital gains that only others could dream about. The best locations in the heart of Berlin. Both at the Government District, and the Old Center. We must act quickly, or someone else may steal this out from under us.”


	Susan Moeller stood at the doorway listening to her husband’s conversation. All she heard was her husband responding with a yes, okay and I’ll do it. Moeller scribbled a note in his day planner. After he hung up he turned to his wife.


	He grinned as he spoke, “My friends are coming to Berlin tomorrow. We will go to East Berlin in the afternoon to have a good look around. I have some strong words for Holt too and if he doesn’t listen, I’ll kick his ass!”


	“What do you have against Holt, he’s such a nice man?” Susan asked. She had met Holt at some company celebrations and found him to be a pleasant and friendly.“He 's always there for you and you’ve always spoken highly of him.” She was clearly confused at her husband’s obvious change of opinion about Holt.


	“I can’t use nice staff for this job. I need bloodhounds who are good at hunting. They will get good money for what they do too!” Moeller replied with a sinister tone in his voice.


	“Walter, you are overreacting. He does his job very well. What more do you want?”


	“You don’t understand. For normal company business he is fine. But I doubt that he can walk over dead bodies.” he said.


	“Oh, like you, Walter?” Susan replied as a tinge of fear crept into her voice.


	 


	The next morning Moeller told his secretary to get a hold of Holt. He was to come to his office before lunch. Even before Holt could have a chance to go into his own office he’d been told about the appointment. He wasn’t even at his desk a few minutes when his intercom rang. It was Moeller, who demanded that Holt come immediately to his office. Moeller was sitting behind his desk and waved to Holt to sit down as he finished putting some data into his computer. After a few seconds, he turned to Holt with a overly friendly smile on his face.


	“Holt, you did an excellent job in East Berlin. I am very proud of you.” What a comedian, Holt thought. He’d never seen such exaggerated friendliness from Moeller. He nodded waiting expectantly for what was coming next.


	“I don’t want to deal unfairly with you. You are doing everything for me and I think you should be rewarded accordingly. How about six percent?” Holt wasn’t sure what Moeller meant by six percent. Six percent share in the distribution company which Moeller just put together with the two men from Düsseldorf; or six percent of the common stock from Moeller’s Architects Office? He remembered quite well that once, during a company party, Moeller had offered Holt a six percent share in a project. He was under the influence at the time, and not surprisingly, Holt never did see that promise fulfilled.


	“Six percent of what?” Holt inquired with suspicious curiosity.


	“Six percent of the purchase value of any property acquired by me or our Company Group. I would have to give a commission to a greedy Broker anyway. I would rather give it to a good and loyal employee.” Holt was taken aback in amazement. He received a relatively good salary for his work. It would never have crossed his mind to demand recompense for his work within regular office hours.


	“Well, that’s generous, but you pay me a salary for being head of the Legal Department. Legally, I can’t take extra money for the work that I already get paid for.”


	Moeller leaned back in satisfaction as he heard Holt’s response.


	“Okay, we’ll call them bonuses or gratuities given for a job well done. We’ll add a commission to your salary. The difference between your salary and the commission will be referred to as a bonus. No one can say anything about it because it will be within the legal guidelines of the Company. Do you agree with these terms Holt? I'll make you a rich man!”


	He laughed and handed Holt the results of his calculations. The numbers Holt saw on the paperwork caught his attention. For the first project located in the area Unter den Linden in East Berlin, Holt would earn at least sixty-thousand marks, not counting his salary. That amount was calculated on the one million mark purchase price of the property. Why throw away money for no reason? he thought. Moeller anxiously waited for his decision.


	“All right, I accept your offer.” Responded Holt. “I see this as an economic boost for me and my family and receive your offer with thanks. But we should put this agreement in writing. That way it will be not be overlooked or forgotten by anyone.”


	“Do you think I am scamming you?” Moeller barked at him.


	“I didn’t say that,” Holt answered calmly, “but you’re not the only one in the company. If you’ve signed an agreement, there isn’t a thing that your partners could say about it.”


	“You don’t like my business partners do you? And you certainly have no confidence in them?” Moeller snapped.


	"Right!” Holt answered firmly.


	 


	As Holt was working diligently to find the land owners places of residence, plus the documents registered at the Land Title Registry, Moeller traveled to East Berlin with his two business partners. Their Daimler stopped in front of a large commercial and residential building Unter den Linden. Their presence immediately gained attention and more so as they got out of the car dressed in their very expensive suits. In front of the door of the house stood two women who appeared to be the owners of the house. The women suspiciously eyed the men, wondering what they wanted. Meanwhile, Moeller took a few photographs of the exterior as the younger partner was filming with his video camera.


	 


	Snidely the one woman said, “They are like rats! The west German with their expensive clothes and their big cars are scurrying everywhere and want to know it all.”


	“Do you think these are the owners?” her friend asked.


	“Maybe so, but if they have their way, it could turn out very bad for us.”


	“What do you mean?” the other woman asked.


	“Who do you think pays for their expensive cars and clothes? They are Capitalists. They suck us dry. Haven’t you watched it on TV? They want to get their houses back and they are talking loud and long enough, that they are being heard.”


	“Martha,” she said, "surely you can’t believe everything the SED is telling us. They haven’t done one thing for us.”


	“What!” hissed Martha. “Have you forgotten who made it possible for you to go on a holiday every year to the vacation home on the Baltic Sea? Who always sent your three kids to summer camp?”


	“I know that very well. I was working very hard for thirty year in the City Council ... and ... I also know to whom I owe not seeing my brother and his family for twenty-eight years! It was not the three west German over there she pointed to the three strangers, it was Ulbricht16 and Honecker, those rags!” she said bitterly.


	Moeller watched the two women who were obviously having some sort of dispute. He walked toward them and when they saw him coming, they stopped their conversation.


	“Hello Ladies. Please excuse me for interrupting your conversation. My friends and I have noticed your beautiful old house. We don’t have anything like that anymore, everything is almost new and made out of glass and concrete. You don’t mind if we take some pictures?”


	“No, we don’t mind,” Martha answered. “Are you the owners from the West?” she asked with some trepidation in her voice.


	“No, we are not the owners, but we would consider it an honor to be the owners of such a beautiful house with such nice tenants.” Both women were flattered, quickly forgetting their first impression of these men.


	“Would you like to come in and take some photographs of the inside of the house? Perhaps some of the flower gardens as well? A few years ago we received recognition from the Party. We were even mentioned in the ND17!” said one of the women with glee.


	Moeller listened with great interest. “We really appreciate your invitation. The house is nicely maintained, unlike some of the houses we’ve seen.” he answered.


	“Yes, it’s because we’re so close to the parade route. Comrade Honecker passes by with his dignitaries. It bears mentioning that Comrade Halfricht, is our first ... uh ... secretary ... in the country.”


	Moeller knew what the words our comrade meant. It was clear that in front of him stood a very strong comrade.


	“So, does this house belong to the Party?” His question was bold, but he needed to know the answer for obvious reasons.


	“No, the party has the right to use the house for entertainment purposes,” Martha said. “The new owner is a Judge. The previous owner’s name was Mr. von Breuel. He left in 1960 to live in the West.”


	“The von Breuel who owns the fashion magazine Breuel Fashion in Hamburg?” asked the younger partner. She thought for a moment.


	“I think so. When he lived here, he had something to do with clothes. After he moved, he had everything shipped to the West. I was still a young girl then., so I don’t remember much.” Then she pointed to the right side of the building where the clothes shop existed years ago.


	“I bought a blouse there once,” she said.


	Moeller gathered a lot of information from the two women. His fake charm worked well on the women who willingly told Moeller everything he wanted to hear. After their very informative conversation Comrade Martha insisted they join her for a cup of coffee named Erics Coronation. Moeller would have drank diluted rat poison, if it meant he’d get any additional information. After they’d looked at three more sites, they happily drove back to West Berlin.


	 


	Earlier that afternoon Holt went to the Central Registration office. He used the phone book to look up addresses with the corresponding phone numbers of several owners living in Berlin. Some people had passed away, but he was able to get the names of the surviving family members. Von Breuel was one of the names that was on the list. He was the owner of one of the most valuable properties in East Berlin at Unter den Linden. According to the Central Registration Records, 82 people were listed that went by that surname. He narrowed the list down by selecting all the von Breuels who had never lived in East Berlin. Out of the entire list, there were only 2 people left. The von Breuel living in Cologne told Holt that he had lived in Schmargendorf, a part of Berlin until 1981.


	His cousin Andreas lived in Berlin-Mitte until the late fifties. Before they could arrest him he fled to the West and now lives in Hamburg, he was told. There, he and his son are operating a publishing house or something like that. The von Breuel who lived in Cologne had last seen his cousin at a family funeral a few years ago. He told Holt that he had his address somewhere and if he could find it, he would call him. Von Breuel kept his word. Two hours later, Holt had all the information he needed entered into his contact list.


	Anxious to begin his business dealings, he called the number. On the second ring, the phone was answered in a very professional manner.


	“Manga Berndt, publisher of Breuel and Son, how may I help you?”


	“My name is Holt from Moeller's Architect’s Office in West Berlin. May I speak to Mr. Andreas von Breuel please.” Holt responded in an equally professional manner.


	“Mr. von Breuel is not available to take your call. If you would like to talk to his son, Mr. Welfthausen, I can connect you. May I ask what your call is about?” she asked.


	"Yes, I am working on an inheritance matter. Why is Mr. Breuels son surname Welfthausen? asked Holt.


	“Mr. Welfthausen is the son of his wife’s previous marriage and he chose to keep his surname. I will connect you now,” she told Holt. He waited patiently, listening to a few stanzas of a familiar song. The song was interrupted by a deep voice, “This is Welfthausen, how can I help you Mr. Holt?”


	After Holt had explained to Welfthausen that he was not an inheritance lawyer and that he was there on real estate business, Welfthausen responded and gave him the information he needed.


	“In the last few years I have often been in East Berlin conducting business. Occasionally, on those visits I drove past my stepfather’s house, the one he had lived in until 1960. The Communists took it away from him and nationalized it in 1960. The property was not mine to inherit and my stepfather did not consider it necessary for him or myself to come to East Berlin on the matter.” Holt took note of his last statement.


	“I have a document here which is not even a week old. It states that your stepfather, Andrew von Breuel, is the only heir of Hans Albrecht von Breuel. He died in 1944 during the war. In 1961, before the Wall was built, the Council of Greater Berlin was given the management of this property. Then in 1963 the administrator closed a long term lease with the SED. He is still the tenant of the house. This means, that your stepfather is still the owner of the house in the street Unter den Linden.” Holt informed Welfthausen. There was a long and quiet pause in their conversation while Welfthausen gave the matter some thought.


	“What do you think the old man should do?”


	“It is my opinion that he should give you Power of Attorney. When the paperwork is in place and under specific conditions you could sell the property to our company. We are very interested in buying the property including the house.” Holt said cautiously.


	“What do you think the house is worth?” Welfthausen asked. Holt didn’t want to give him too much information, so he replied.


	“It will need a lot of repair. The current value in East Berlin is no more than 450,000 East marks.”


	“Man, if we convert the money into German mark, we will have no more than 100,000 that’s way too little!’ Welfthausen raised his voice a little in response. Holt stayed steady and boldly repeated his offer.


	“To us, the property is worth 450,000 German marks, our offer is final.”


	Welfthausen was quiet for a little while. He began to speak very quietly, “I will speak with my stepfather first. I already have Power of Attorney over all his legal matters. If you don’t renege on your offer we’ll do business with you. You’ll need to take care of all the paperwork required in the East ... and …” after a short pause he continued, ‘the money won’t be deposited into an escrow account. It’ll be deposited in our account in Hamburg.”


	Shortly before the office closed, Moeller came back in a very good mood. He waved his Day Planner under Holt’s nose.


	“I got him! The owner of the house Unter den Linden. His name is von Breuel.”


	“Yes,” Holt interrupted. “Andreas von Breuel. He lives in Hamburg. He’s represented by his stepson Welfthausen. He’s willing to negotiate on behalf of his stepfather to sell the property for 450,000 German mark.” Moeller’s jaw dropped! He had already planned to pay 1,000,000 German marks for the purchase of the property.


	“Wow Holt, how did you pull this off?” Holt grinned as he showed him a draft of the purchase agreement for the property Unter den Linden. Moeller remained speechless.


	 


	The next day during their business meeting, Holt pointed out the strong risk factors in dealing primarily with Western land owners. The social structures in old Berlin had produced  owners primarily from wealthy families or from among successful business people. The heirs of these people had not fared as well as their successors, leaving them owning the land, but not having a significant cash flow. These were the people that Moeller decided to target. He would offer them an amount of 50,000 German marks for the purchase of their land. Many impoverished owners would sell their property for that amount of money. Probably they’d sell their souls if they were desperate enough.  Moeller was convinced that he was right, since he himself came from a merchant family.


	“Holt, please get the documents for the houses which are still belong to the East owners. When you have them, please speak to the owners. With your excellent administration skills, it won’t be too difficult to find the addresses. I have assigned Becker to take over your overdue projects. That way you can focus all of your attention to the matters at hand.” Although Holt would have preferred to complete the overdue projects on his own, he reluctantly agreed with Moeller’s decision. He had to admit that he liked the East Berlin projects way better and receiving a much higher income also wasn’t too hard to take either.


	Holt met Roth at the restaurant called the Last Instance18. Moeller had instructed the accountant to give Holt an additional 2,700 German marks, plus a lump sum of 10,000 German Marks for additional documents that Roth had retrieved. After exchanging pleasantries, Holt got straight to the point.


	“We have a great deal of interest in 3 documents out of the numerous ones you gave me the last time we met. So, in addition to the flat rate of 100 German marks per document we’d agreed upon, you will be getting 2,700 German marks. My boss sends you his regards and has asked me to invite you for dinner and drinks at the restaurant Turtle this Friday.” Roth asked him where the restaurant was and jotted down the directions that Holt gave him.


	When Roth has finished his writing, Holt asked him what he’d brought perusal today.


	“I’ve only been able to get you eighteen land title documents. Schmierling didn’t want to give me more than that. The ones he did give me, are owners in the East.” This didn’t come as a surprise to Holt as he had warned Moeller about it in their meeting the day before. But, Roth would not be privy to this information, so Holt expressed his disappointment that there were only so few documents.


	“That’s really too bad,” Holt warned, “you need to talk to Schmierling and change his mind. Tell him, he’ll get a hefty bonus if he gives us valuable documents. Tell him, we will give him 5,000 German marks. “What about me?” Roth interrupted excitedly.


	“You’ll also get the same bonus.”


	“But for today’s business transaction, I’ll give you a flat rate of 1,800 Marks.”


	The new documents proved to be very valuable to Holt. Out of eighteen documents, he noticed that there were twelve new owners listed. They currently lived in East Berlin or had lived there before. He also noticed a discrepancy in the paperwork. It appeared that a property still belonged to the NSDAP19, at least it was still registered with the Land Registry as them being the owner. After the war the Nazi party returned property to the original owner, or the property went to the State. It should have been the same in this case.


	They must have created a new land register document, but where was it? Is it possible that the other documents Holt and Moeller had were outdated? Holt began to get a very uncomfortable feeling as these thoughts went through his mind. Had Schmierling intentionally supplied them with outdated documents, or was it just an administrative error?


	The document Bln/M2202/1408 had as a property name Galgenhaus was located on Brueder Street. It was opposite to the Friedrichsgracht, not far from the Spree River. Galgenhaus was not listed, and Holt thought that it meant maybe the State Council Building which was about two hundred meters to the north and that it should be called the Galgen Bird House. When Holt stood in front of the house, he saw the internationally recognized monument. He took notice of the plaque and saw the sign Galgenhaus just below it. Holt knew that it was built in the 13th century and that it was located beside the Nicolai Building the only Baroque house that was still in existence.


	As Holt looked beyond the road he saw an elderly man sweeping the sidewalk. Directly behind him was a big iron gate that had been left open. Holt surmised that the old man lived behind that iron fence.


	Holt approached him and said, “Sorry to bother you but I'm looking for a Mr. Manfred George Decker, or a relative of Mr. Decker.” The old man’s weathered face was framed with a grey fringe of hair. His watery grey eyes looked searchingly at Holt.


	“You're a lawyer, right?” He asked with a youthful and high-pitched voice. His voice was in stark contrast to his appearance.


	“Well, something like that. I work at a well known architecture company,” Holt said. He didn’t reveal the location of that office.


	“What do you want from Decker?” he asked. Holt had no intention of telling everything he knew. On the other hand he had to be very careful that he didn’t turn people off and turn away potential information.


	He answered carefully, “In our Company we work scientifically and architecturally with old buildings. We make sure that they are preserved and are accessible to the general public.” The old man responded laughingly and said, “You’d sure have to do a lot to fix up this dump!”


	“I am the Decker you're looking for.”


	“Manfred George Decker?” Holt asked.


	“Yes, young man, that’s me. So, what’s the real reason you’re here for? You can’t tell me that your only interest is as a philanthropist or for the pure love of science,” he replied smiling knowingly at Holt.


	Holt decided to tell Decker the truth. “You’re right, Mr. Decker, I am not here because I’m a philanthropist or because we’re interested in conserving old buildings. I’m here so we can talk about a business opportunity that will give you large financial gain, if you decide to do business with us.”


	“That’s what I thought. Please come in. I don’t want to discuss private business matters in public,” he said as he turned to walk back to the house with a shuffling and uncertain gait of a frail man. He led the way through the open gate to the back of the house. Holt noticed that there was a structure that looked something like a shed and that patches of flowers were planted randomly on the property. Beyond the entrance door stood an old, iron garden table which was painted white, with fold out legs and two matching, but green-painted garden chairs that were at least as old as its owner.


	"In 1945 they kicked my family and I out in front and we were only allowed to live in the back of the building, where formerly the staff and the horses stayed," he explained apologetically summarizes to his current housing situation. "My two sons were killed in the war and my wife already died in 1958. Since then I live alone here and sometimes my daughter and her two children who are living in Munich. But their visits are fewer and fewer." Decker sighed and looked mournfully into the coffee mugs standing in front of him which he had just put on the table for himself and Holt, together with sugar and a glass of milk.


	"With them you certainly meant the Communists?"


	"No, at that time the Russians drove us out of the front house and later those from the party kept this injustice. In the years from 1950 to 1961 I was officially the caretaker of my own house. After that I only helped once in a while in front. I still had my job as a printer and I did not wanted to lose that. Since 1653 there have been in our family only book printer, anyway, always the eldest son took over the art of printing from the father. Jacob, my eldest son, who died during the war in 1940, should have followed in my footsteps. With him the line of printing is gone from the house of Decker and will never come back again."


	With these words Holt felt sadness by himself. He felt sorry for the old man and he could empathize about the feelings with him.


	"At the Land Register you are still the owner, do you know that?"


	"Yes, but what are my property rights. About financial and legal reasons I am not able to do anything."


	"The legal reasons will change and soon you will be able to use all your possessions again and also about your finances you do not have to think about anymore."


	"Well young man, stay on the ground. For this dump no bank will give me a loan. Since 1950, a total of three forced mortgages has been recorded, and they are on the first three spaces with over three hundred thousand marks. Unless a miracle happens, the house is ruined."


	"I believe that the miracles name could be Moeller."


	"And if there is such a miracle called Moeller, what should I do with it. I am ninety-three years old and already with one foot in the grave.”


	"For sure you can spend your least years here at the garden house in peace, if you do not mind the construction noise of the renovation on the main house. I can imagine that you will have a lifelong right to live here, if you transfer your property in return for a pension to a suitable investor."


	"And, do you throw the Cultural Association of the party out in front?"the old man asked.


	"Times are different now Mr. Decker. The party will take off from all unlawful occupied property, also the Cultural Association, as a branch of the SED. You will see they soon disappear."


	" They are gone already. In the last week the last furniture and files have been removed. They even stole the rest of my furniture," the old man replied angrily.


	"Of course, I do not want to make to exaggerated hopes for you. Because this is really a very, very old house, the boss, who is a specialized architect for historic buildings, should have a look at your Galgenhaus by himself. Then you could agree with Mr. Moeller about what you want to do."


	Holt wanted to have a second visit. Another excerpt was interesting because of the location and not even a five minute walk away. In the year 1949 there was already a community of heirs named Moeller, Bonnemann and Gerber registered at the excerpts but with different fractions . Holt had to smile at the thought that this Moeller could be possibly related to his boss. But there were people named Moeller a dozen times and it was unlikely that his boss might be related with these Moeller. In front of the house , no one cleaned the dirty road. On the first floor of the almost excellent looking four-story house he found what he was looking for. On an old copper plate was the name Walter Moeller. Now Holt was really amazed by the same name and he laughed loudly in the hallway. A small door opened a little bit and an elderly woman looked startled at Holt. After Holt had explained the reason for his laughter to the old lady, even she had to laugh. She was willing to tell Holt everything she knew. Since the year 1949 the heirs were in the meantime already eighteen people and theoretically all of them could be heirs of this house now. In view of eighteen heirs, who were also still scattered throughout Germany and the world, a quick solution did not seem to be possible. Just because of the similarity name he wanted to present this case to Moeller and wait for his decision. Satisfied with the achievements he went back late that afternoon.


	The arranged dinner at the Turtle took place in a friendly and relaxed atmosphere. Moeller appeared with his wife to give the meeting a more private style. Roth and Holt were single. Holt had considered briefly to take Iris as well because Moeller had mentioned to come with or without the spouse. He had chosen not to take her because he was afraid that Iris would start a dispute again during dinner which could interfere with the meeting.


	This time Roth did not wear a Present 20 suit, he was dressed in relatively expensive one, which still smelled of retail space. When Moeller was jovial and told him repeatedly how flattered he was about his excellent position and his commitment to Moeller`s company Roth finally lost his insecurity. Always Moeller targeted his conversation with Roth to his contacts, whether he would know this or this official. He gave all the information because he did not sensed the target directions and the motivation of the questions.


	Moeller also asked about Schmierling."Have you known Mr. Schmierling for a long time, can he be trusted at all?"


	"I have known Schmierling since 1972," Roth said. "We were together a few months on a training course in Babelsberg and when he left around 1979 to the Land Registry of Berlin -Mitte, I was often in contact with him and kept this contact also private. You know, vitamin B."


	Moeller laughed. "Yes, I know vitamin B, that is the lubricant in every society. For people who have no contacts at all it is always difficult to go on. That is true and not only in the GDR, but also here in the West. So, you also know Schmierling private.” It was more a statement than a question.


	"Like I said, I did not let the personal contact go. Once or twice a year, we met each other for a grill party at his Datscha20 in Bohnsdorf. Since he got divorced, a little bit less."


	"What is a Datscha?" Moeller asked unsuspectingly, even though he knew exactly the name the East people called their Weekend house. Roth explained Moeller the concept and origin of the word, as he said, from the Russian brothers.


	"He has no apartment in East Berlin?" Moeller asked.


	"He has his official residence directly in the building of the Land registry, but if he has time, he likes to be in Bohnsdorf."


	For this information Moeller had waited, he wanted to know where he could find Schmierling in private. The intention, to commence this personal contact, he had wisely kept to himself. His intention was in the future, to exclude all other people from the business in East Berlin, in order to be directly on the source. Therefore Holt and Roth were to him totally in the way.


	After dinner, Moeller and his wife wanted to drive Roth back home. When Roth tried to decline this offer, Moeller replied that he still would like to look at the nightlife in East Berlin and he thought, that Roth would be the competent guide to do so. He agreed. The three of them headed towards the East.


	The nightlife in East Berlin was not to interesting for Moeller, like to him it was not even existing. Roth's efforts to offer some variety to Moeller, were simply prevented by the night life that had shifted after November 9th into the Western sectors. The remaining night bars in the eastern Friedrichstraße and Unter den Linden were deserted. After Moeller have had a last drink in the empty bar Lindenkorso, he took Roth back home, who lived not far away in a new building at the Reinhold Huhn Straße. Directly on the opposite side of the Kochstraße was the building of the publisher Axel Springer and already West Berlin.


	"Who was Reinhold Huhn?" Moeller wanted to know.


	"That was a frontier guard of the GDR," Roth said, "and was murdered in the service of his socialist fatherland … ah, well he was shot.”


	"Who shot the poor man?" Moeller asked hypocritical, even though he already knew the story from the standpoint of the West. He was waiting for the answer how Roth would explain that.


	"I do not remember exactly, I think it was about in 1962. Huhn did his service here in the street and then he caught people building a tunnel and wanted to escape the Republic and he wanted to take them away with gun point of a Kalashnikov. One of the organizers from the West, who suppose to be an CIA agent, had then shot Huhn in the back with a pistol."


	"You do not think, that the people in the GDR have had a right to be able to leave their country free and without coercion?"


	"Until the 9th of November it did not matter what the people in the GDR believed in and what rights they had, it was always just about what the party conceded was right to the people. Without the anti-fascist protective wall, uh ... the Wall, the GDR would have been bleed to death already in 1961."


	"Well Roth, then a terrible end would have been better than a horror without an end. For you and many other people a lot of things would have been spared."


	Roth raised his shoulders with sadness and said then: "It was still worth trying to build a society in which all could live together according to their needs and free from exploitation. Even that a lot of things went out of control, I always was for a human socialism."


	"Roth, you are a dreamer, wake up and join the free and social market economy that your bosses always denounced as capitalism."


	Roth got out of the car in front of his house. When Moeller passed the next corner and he was no longer seen by Roth, he stopped. He turned off the engine and looked over the frontier barriers towards West. The brightly lit building of the Springer house looked like a petrified and light provocation, surrounded by the darkness of the East. His wife had been silent during the conversation and also afterward.


	"Walter, what is going on, why are you stopping here?" She wanted to know.


	"I have an idea," he responded, by leaning over the back seat grabbing his briefcase. "On the excerpts, Holt had given to me, is also the address of the Land Registry and in that house also lives the Head of the Office, whom we will visit now."


	"You are out of your mind, it's already after midnight. You cannot get somebody out of bed now, whom you do not know and who does not know who you are."


	"Yes, I can! I'm going to keep him down immediately with a few bucks. This also has an


	advantage that nobody sees us - and who I am, the guy will find out soon, if he is as smart as Roth said."


	At the doorbell of the entrance there were only two names, first the one who worked the day shift and second the residence of the conductor.


	Under the second name Schmierling Moeller rang the bell. After a long time an angry voice yelled. "What the fuck is going on ? I've been asleep."


	"For this disorder you are adequately compensated. Put on some clothes and open the damn door. I do not want to get pneumonia in this kind of weather," Moeller snapped aggressive in the front door microphone.


	"Who ... who 's there?" somebody answered meekly.


	"I have to talk to you and it cannot be delayed. My name is Moeller," he introduced himself.


	"Moeller? The architect Moeller from West Berlin?“ Schmierling said, remembering the name that Roth had told him a few days ago on the phone.


	"Yes, that’s me."


	"Can’t it wait until early tomorrow morning? " Schmierling wanted to know.


	"If you want to have your money only in the next few days , then yes, because I am not dragging so much money with me in cash every day. "The answer immediately made an impact.


	"I 'm coming, I will be right down!"


	Well then, Moeller said to himself, and he looked over to his wife who was waiting in the car. Now I 'm going to talk to the corrupt pig and do the job properly. It also goes without intermediate broker. I will not spend money for things I can do myself, he thought.


	With a slight squeak the door opened and a small and stout man, whose hair hung tangled in his face, timidly held the door open. Your name could not have been more accurate, Moeller first thought, as he pushed himself in to the hallway, where Schmierling stood only wearing  pajamas.


	When Moeller stepped an hour later into the dark, he had a buoyant step and a smile of triumph on his face. His wife had heard soft music and fell asleep, deeply sunk in the seat. Opening the driver's door, she was awakened. Moeller plopped down in the seat and looked at her.


	"This night you will not forget. I just build the foundation for a huge business that can bring me more than one hundred million marks and it took me no more than twelve thousand three hundred forty-five marks, all the money I had in cash on me."


	"That's nice for you," his wife replied, yawning. "I have also still some cash on me, if there is anything else we should need to night."


	"My dear, it is not just nice for me, but also super wonderful for you. You will be as early as next month at your riding stables near Fallingbostel. I promise."


	With the drone of the engine the heavy BMW drove away into the night. An ecstatic man joyfully watched from the window as the car drove away. He was still holding major chunk of money in his cramped hand.


	 


	Moeller couldn’t fall asleep for quite some time after he got into bed in the early hours of the morning. He could not get the conversation that he just had with Schmierling out of his mind. He wasn’t just a corrupt man, he turned out to be a brilliant negotiator as well. When Moeller spoke about the existing property details, the rights of former owners and the possibility of possible restitution claims, Schmierling proposed an idea that rendered Moeller speechless! He pointed out that based on the Jewish claim Conference Laws, Moeller could open up a Trust Company with his business partners as well as his lawyers and the banks he did business with. This new business would have access to all the information on property owners and former property owners in the East. The Jewish people would be exempt, as they were already well represented by the JCC21. A company such as this would have to be acknowledged by the GDR and would be supported by the political elite of Germany. It was understood that Schmierling could not renege on the assistance he’d promised Moeller.


	Moeller thought about the money he would have to pay to Holt in this business venture. The total was roughly 350,000 marks. He was not willing to pay that amount of money to Holt. Not one penny will go to him!


	I have to find a way to kick him out of my business, he thought. Just as he was drifting off to sleep, he had an idea. I’ll set a trap for Holt. When he takes the bait, and he will, I’ll fire him. He’ll have to prove what I did, and that won’t be easy for him because of my position. He was very proud of himself as he drifted off to sleep.


	Holt’s services were needed again at the West Berlin architect’s office. A few weeks after the business dealings in East Berlin, Moeller gave Holt again the project at Bleibtreustraße. This was at the final stages of completion. In early April at the weekly meeting Moeller put unbearable pressure on his employees. Tight deadlines were put into place. Documents had to be rewritten, amended, completion dates were extended. This business practice appeared chaotic to Holt. There was no reason to conduct normal business proceedings in this manner. Over all, Moeller was a reasonable boss. But, as each week passed, he became very difficult to work for. Within two months, three employees gave their notice because Moeller’s disposition had gotten so bad.


	 


	Many dramatic changes took place in the GDR. In April, Lothar de Maiziere was elected as the first Democratic Prime Minister. Angela Merkel became the first Deputy Governor spokes woman. By May, the previous way of life began to be restored with a Social and Economic Union being established with the Federal Republic. Everything was to come into effect by July 1st. It was also the deadline for the investment prospectus to be completed, so it could be brought to the print shop.


	In late June, Moeller showed up at Holt’s office, which was out of his normal routine. He had documents in his hand.


	“There have been modification made to the first calculations, so different measurements were used during the construction for the windows. Check this data against the actual data and run the numbers again!” he demanded as he shoved the pile across Holt’s desk. Moeller’s voice and demeanor let Holt know that he wanted it done immediately!


	“The Senior Project Manager gave you the measurements and dimensions last week along with the blueprints.” Holt said sitting there stunned.


	“I want to make sure that everything is calculated correctly. The Investors rely on us to calculate the costs correctly. If they see that things aren’t lining up, they’ll demand their money plus interest back, and then we’ll have nothing left!” he replied angrily spewing obscenities as he left Holt’s office.


	There was no doubt in Holt’s mind that wrong calculations in the prospectus could lead to legal action from the investors. He knew of other companies that were dishonest with their statements of income. They seemed confident that nobody would find out but, if the truth did come out, they’d have to pay back millions!


	The documents that Moeller gave Holt didn’t corresponded with the original construction documents any more. It looked as if they’d used larger windows than what was necessary. Holt wondered why they had made the window openings larger in the exterior walls. Normal protocol was to install smaller windows on the exterior walls, as larger windows were more expensive to install. As he went over the paperwork given to him by Moeller, he could see that significant changes had been made. As far as Holt could tell they were all signed by Moeller and the architectural supervisor. He went over the numbers and discovered that they had added additional funds in the amount of 65,000 marks. That meant that there would be an higher split of costs of almost 600 marks more per month. The doctored figures reflected that for the time of fifteen years the tenants would lose 107,000.


	Holt needed for the new calculation for the split of costs and the correction the whole afternoon and early evening hours. Before he left his office for the day he put the edited documents in the OUT tray on the secretary’s desk. He thought he’d take Iris out of her daily grind for a while, so he had called her on his lunch break. They each had to work overtime that day, so they made a reservation at the World Clock Bar on Alexanderplatz. They were wanting to celebrate the liberation of Germany with another couple from East Berlin. All the legal aspects of that liberation would come into effect that night. When he arrived at the bar, there was already a lot of hell being raised. He found a booth in a secluded corner of the bar which he’d reserved for Iris who hadn’t arrived yet. Everyone was drinking like maniacs! Not just beer, but also champagne was flowing like a river.


	 


	Holt watched the wild, exuberant crowd as they threw around Eastern cash what everyone knew would soon be extinct. With each new bottle the banknotes of Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels changed hands. The owner of the bar had a large cardboard box where he threw in all the Eastern money. Holt decided to drink some beer and when he was about to have his second one, Iris arrived with a disapproving look on her face about the atmosphere of the bar.


	“Hans, those guys are acting like idiots,” she said as she sat down. “Let’s get up and leave.”


	“We can’t do that, we’re waiting for our friends, remember?” We’ll stay for another half hour and if they don’t show up by then, we’ll leave.” Holt said, trying to soothe her mood.


	“I’m hungry,” Iris grumbled. "I haven’t had a bite to eat since lunch.”


	“Why don’t you order a curry sausage while we wait?” asked Holt.


	“I don’t want a sausage, “Iris whined. “I want something substantial to eat.” Holt began to get annoyed. Why isn’t this woman satisfied with things in life? She eats curry sausage at home once in a while, why doesn’t she simply eat it here? he thought as he became more irritated with her.


	“I’ll have a meatball with onion and a slice of bread,” she replied pointing to the sign hanging above the bar where the menu was posted. When he ordered the next round of drinks, he added in Iris’ food order hoping it would make her happy. After she’d sipped some champagne and taken a few bites of her sandwich, she became more pleasant to be around. She even began a conversation with the woman sitting in the booth next to her. With Iris occupied, Holt seized the opportunity to have an undisturbed conversation with Atze, a construction worker from Weissensee. Atze told Holt that he was buying a 1980 BMW the next day and that he would get if for only 8,000 German marks. Holt thought the price was just outrageous, but he didn’t want to bust Atze’s bubble, so he kept quiet. For weeks now the used car lots in West Berlin were empty. He had seen semi trucks from the Netherlands, pick up the old used cars and transport them to the East. From this day on, they would sell the old cars to the East making a profit of up to three hundred percent!


	When it was close to midnight the atmosphere in the bar seemed like New Year’s Eve. The people were becoming more intoxicated as the night wore on. East German Rotkäppchen champagne was already long gone. The owner of the bar told his patrons to be patient and wait another twenty minutes. Then everyone could buy Deinhardt champagne with German mark currency. A heavily intoxicated patron asked the bar keeper what to do with the East German currency. “Burn the shit!” he roared. Holt watched in disbelief as Karl Marx and Friedrich Engels were handed over to the be burned. Laughing, the First-burner and Atze lit their narrow, brown cigars with a hundred east mark banknote. In about 15 minutes, these cigars would cost three German Mark each throughout all of Germany, Holt thought.


	When midnight came almost everyone in the bar rushed over to the new established Deutsche Bank to stock up with new money. A new, but not necessarily better era had begun in those few short moments. Holt had a bitter taste in his mouth, which didn’t came only from the lukewarm beer and champagne.


	 


	Monday morning began with a jolting, whooping huge surprise. When he walked into the office building he sensed a strange and tense atmosphere. His coworkers looked at him with a strange expression. He began to feel increasingly uneasy. What’s going on? There’s something wrong here, they’re acting strange! These thoughts raced through his mind. When he opened the door to his office, he saw most of his personal belongings packed up in cardboard boxes. Some things had been left unpacked which indicated that whoever was packing up his stuff must have left quickly when they heard that Holt was in the building. When Holt turned around, he saw the head secretary motioning him to come to her desk. When Holt walked over to her, she handed him a receipt which required his signature along with a business envelope. She didn’t say a word to him. He noticed that the return address on the envelope was that of the management of the Company. Moeller’s name was nowhere to be seen.


	“What is this bull shit?” he asked tersely as he tore open the envelope. He saw the harsh words written in dark typeset. Termination without notice. Holt was shocked!


	Nothing like this had ever happened to him during his entire professional career. He sat down on a chair reserved for guests and began to read the letter.


	The reasons for his termination were severe misconduct resulting in a breach of trust. The letter stated that he didn’t follow legal protocol as Head of the Legal Department. Further allegations brought against him were that he’d made false statements in the paperwork that was drawn up for the investors. Further, they said that the Company had to absorb the damages in the amount of 14,000 German marks. The breach of trust accusation would come also from some of the investors who had already received the falsified paperwork. His termination was effective immediately. For the rest of the month he would receive his pay check. The Legal Records of the company were to be returned immediately and he was prohibited from going back into his office without an escort.


	This is really bad! My whole career could be ruined, Holt thought as he sat there wondering how he needed to handle this. He became aware of Moeller’s voice. That cowardly pig is there! He thought as anger replaced the shock. With the letter of termination in his hand, he got up and rushed toward the door. The head secretary got up quickly and stood in front of the door to block him from going in. He pushed her aside and forcefully opened the door causing it to hit the wall with a loud thud! Moeller, along with his two clients jumped back clearly startled. Moeller moved toward Holt in a menacing way, as if he was going to tackle Holt.


	Holt turned to Moeller’s clients. “Gentlemen, give me a few minutes alone with him. When I’m finished, you can come back in and be deceived some more.” They looked at Moeller with a questioning look. Moeller winked at them indicating that they should go. After both of them left the office, Holt closed the conference room door abruptly causing a loud bang to ripple throughout the offices. Moeller seemed calm and sat down behind the desk. He looked at Holt with a disgusted look on his face.


	“Moeller, you are probably the most unscrupulous person I know!” yelled Holt as he threw the letter on the desk. “I’m not going to take this! It’s all a bold faced lie! You gave those documents to me yourself. You knew that they were wrong. You manipulated those documents yourself and falsified the information!”


	“You have to prove that, Holt. You want to blame me for your carelessness,” he replied in a calm, assured manner.
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